FILED 08-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Page 1 of 60

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL NO: 2023AP002362

JOSH KAUL, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF SAFETY AND

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, WISCONSIN MEDICAL EXAMINING BOARD, AND CLARENCE P. CHOU, M.D.,
Plaintiffs-Respondents,

CHRISTOPHER J. FORD, KRISTIN J. LYERLY, and JENNIFER J. MCINTOSH,

Intervenors-Respondents,

VS.

JOEL URMANSKI, as District Attorney for Sheboygan County, WI, Defendant-Appellant,

JOHN T. CHISHOLM, as District Attorney for Milwaukee County, WI, and ISMAEL R. OZANNE, as District Attorney for Dane County, WI, Defendants-Respondents.

•	a	.7	L	o

Amazon Logistics, Inc. v. LIRC, 2023 WI App 26, 407 Wis. 2d 807, 885, 992 N.W.2d 168, 205
Babbitz v. McCann, 310 F. Supp. 293 (E.D. Wis. 1970)
Balistreri v. State, 83 Wis. 2d 440, 265 N.W.2d 290 (1978)
Banuelos v. Univ. of Wis. Hospitals and Clinics Authority, 2023 WI 25, 406 Wis. 2d 439, 988 N.W.2d 627
Bauer v. Wisconsin Energy Corp., 2022 WI 11, 400 Wis. 2d 592, 970 N.W.2d 243
Becker v. Dane Cty., 2022 WI 63, 403 Wis. 2d 424, 977 N.W.2d 390
Brinkley v. State, 253 Ga. 541, 322 S.E.2d 49 (Ga. 1984)
Cheaney v. Indiana, 285 N.E.2d 265 (Ind. 1972)
Chicago Joe's Tea Room, LLC v. Village of Broadview, 894 F.3d 807 (7th Cir. 2018)
Clarke v. WEC, 2023 WI 79, 410 Wis. 2d 1, 998 N.W.2d 370
Comm. on Legal Ethics of the W. Va. State Bar v. Printz, 416 S.E.2d 720 (W.V. 1992)
Commonwealth v. Stowell, 389 Mass. 171, 449 N.E.2d 357 (1983)
Crossen v. Attorney General of Com. of Ky., 344 F. Supp. 587 (E.D. Ky. 1972). 47
Cty. of Door v. Hayes-Brook, 153 Wis. 2d 1, 449 N.W.2d 601 (1990) 55
De La Fuente v. Merrill, 214 F. Supp. 3d 1241 (M.D. Ala. 2016) 52
District of Columbia v. John R. Thompson Co., 346 U.S. 100 (1953) 52
Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Org., 142 S. Ct. 2228 (2022)
Doe 56 v. Mayo Clinic Health Sys.—Eau Claire Clinic, Inc., 2016 WI 48, 369 Wis. 2d 351, 880 N.W.2d 681 21
Fabick v. Evers, 2021 WI 28, 396 Wis. 2d 231, 956 N.W.2d 856
FAS, LLC v. Town of Bass Lake, 2007 WI 73, 301 Wis. 2d 321, 733 N.W.2d 287 (cleaned up)
Foster v. State, 182 Wis. 298, 196 N.W. 233 (1923)
Fox v. DHSS, 112 Wis. 2d 514, 334 N.W.2d 532 (1983)
Gabler v. Crime Victim Rights Board, 2017 WI 67, 376 Wis. 2d 147, 897 N.W.2d 384 42

Gilkey v. Cook, 60 Wis. 133, 18 N.W. 639 (1884)
Hatchard v. State, 79 Wis. 357, 48 N.W. 380 (1891) 16, 25, 46, 53
In re John Doe Petition, 2010 WI App 142, 329 Wis.2d 724, 793 N.W.2d 209
<i>In re T.L.EC</i> , 2021 WI 56, 397 Wis. 2d 462, 960 N.W.2d 391
<i>In re: P.M.</i> , 2024 WI 26, 412 Wis. 2d 285, 8 N.W.3d 349
Jamgotchian v. State Horse Racing Commission, 269 F. Supp. 3d 604 (M.D. Pa. 2017)
Jawish v. Morlet, 86 A.2d 96 (D.C. Mun. App. 1952)
Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591 (2015)
Kenny v. Wilson, 885 F.3d 280 (4th Cir. 2018)
Larkin v. McCann, 368 F. Supp. 1352 (E.D. Wis. 1974)
Mangual v. Rotger-Sabat, 317 F.3d 45 (1st Cir. 2003)
Manthe v. Town Bd. of Town of Windsor, 204 Wis. 2d 546, 555 N.W.2d 167 (Ct. App. 1996)
Mayo v. Wisconsin Injured Patients and Fams. Comp. Fund, 2018 WI 78, 383 Wis. 2d 1, 914 N.W.2d 678
McLoughlin v. Malnar, 237 Wis. 492, 297 N.W. 370 (1941)
People v. Belous, 458 P.2d 194 (Cal. 1969)
Planned Parenthood of Ind. & Ky. v. Marion Cty. Prosecutor, 7 F.4th 594 (7th Cir. 2021)
Planned Parenthood of Wisconsin, Inc. v. Schimel, 2016 WI App 19, 367 Wis. 2d 712, 877 N.W.2d 604
Poe v. Ullman, 367 U.S. 497 (1961)
Radzanower v. Touche Ross & Co., 426 U.S. 148 (1976)
Randolph v. IMBS, Inc., 368 F.3d 726 (7th Cir. 2004)
Rodermund v. State, 167 Wis. 577, 168 N.W. 390 (1918)
Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973)
Rose v. Locke, 423 U.S. 48 (1975)
Smith v. Newsome, 815 F.2d 1386 (11th Cir. 1987)
Southport Commons, LLC v. Wis. Department of Transportation, 2021 WI 52, 397 Wis. 2d 362, 960 N.W.2d 17

Case 2023AP002362 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-12-2024 Page 8 of 60

386, 129 N.W. 623 (1911)
State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110
State ex rel. La Follette v. Dammann, 220 Wis. 17, 264 N.W. 627 (1936) 56
State ex rel. Nudo Holdings, LLC v. Bd. of Review for City of Kenosha, 2022 WI 17, 401 Wis. 2d 27, 972 N.W.2d 544
State ex rel. Tingley v. Hanley, 248 Wis. 578, 22 N.W.2d 510 (1946) 16, 25, 53
State v. Abodeely, 179 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 1970)
State v. Black, 188 Wis. 2d 639, 536 N.W.2d 132 (1994) passim
State v. Christensen, 110 Wis. 2d 538, 329 N.W.2d 382 (1983)
State v. Cissell, 127 Wis. 2d 205, 378 N.W.2d 691 (1985)
State v. Cohen, 31 Wis. 2d 97, 142 N.W.2d 161 (1966) passim
State v. Courtney, 74 Wis. 2d 705, 247 N.W.2d 714 (1976)
State v. Dairyland Power Co-op., 52 Wis. 2d 45, 187 N.W.2d 878 (1971)
State v. Deborah J.Z., 228 Wis. 2d 468, 596 N.W.2d 490 (Ct. App. 1999) 34
State v. Donley, 216 W. Va. 368, 607 S.E.2d 474 (2004)
State v. Gonnelly, 173 Wis. 2d 503, 496 N.W.2d 671 (Ct. App. 1992) 35, 41
State v. Grandberry, 2018 WI 29, 380 Wis. 2d 541, 910 N.W.2d 214 passim
State v. Guarnero, 2015 WI 72, 363 Wis. 2d 857, 867 N.W.2d 400
State v. Hager, 2018 WI 40, 381 Wis. 2d 74, 911 N.W.2d 17
State v. Hamdan, 2003 WI 113, 264 Wis. 2d 433, 665 N.W.2d 785 28
State v. Hansen, 2001 WI 53, 243 Wis. 2d 328, 627 N.W.2d 195
State v. Harling, 44 Wis. 2d 266, 170 N.W.2d 720 (1969)
State v. Jennings, 2003 WI 10, 259 Wis. 2d 523, 657 N.W.2d 393
State v. Mac Gresens, 40 Wis. 2d 179, 161 N.W.2d 245 (1968) passim
State v. Matasek, 2014 WI 27, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811 26
State v. McKellips, 2016 WI 51, 369 Wis.2d 437, 881 N.W.2d 258
State v. Munson, 86 S.D. 663, 201 N.W.2d 123 (S.D. 1972)
State v. Ploeckelman, 2007 WI App 31, 299 Wis. 2d 251, 729 N.W.2d 784 40
State v. Quintana, 2008 WI 33, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447 24

State v. Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, 378 Wis. 2d 504, 904 N.W.2d 773 24
State v. Ruesch, 214 Wis. 2d 548, 571 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1997)
State v. Sartin, 200 Wis. 2d 47, 546 N.W.2d 449 (1996)
State v. Timm, 244 Wis. 508, 12 N.W.2d 670 (1944)
State v. Villamil, 2017 WI 74, 377 Wis. 2d 1, 898 N.W.2d 482 31, 36
State v. Wood, 2010 WI 17, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63
Steinberg v. Brown, 321 F. Supp. 741 (N.D. Ohio 1970)
Stopera v. DiMarco, 218 Mich. App. 565, 554 N.W.2d 379 (1996) 52
Trustees of Ind. Univ. v. Curry, 918 F.3d 537 (2019)
United States v. Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114 (1979)
United States v. Dalton, 960 F.2d 121 (10th Cir. 1992)
United States v. Elliott, 266 F. Supp. 318 (E.D.N.Y. 1967) 51, 53, 54
Waukesha Cty. v. M.A.C., 2024 WI 30, 412 Wis. 2d 462, 8 N.W.3d 365. 22, 29, 31
Wenke v. Gehl Co., 2004 WI 103, 274 Wis. 2d 220, 682 N.W.2d 405 33, 34
Westmas v. Creekside Tree Serv., Inc., 2018 WI 12, 379 Wis. 2d 471, 907 N.W.2d 68
Williams v. Traveler's Insurance Co., 168 Wis. 456, 169 N.W. 609 (1918) 51
Wisconsin Justice Initiative, Inc. v. W.E.C., 2023 WI 38, 407 Wis. 2d 87, 106, 990 N.W.2d 122
Wisconsin Pharmaceutical Ass'n v. Lee, 264 Wis. 325, 58 N.W.2d 700 (1953) 56
WMC v. Evers, 2022 WI 38, 977 N.W.2d 374
Statutes
1953 Wisconsin Act 623, ch. 340
1955 Wisconsin Act 696, ch. 940
1985 Wisconsin Act 56
1997 Wisconsin Act 295
Revised Statutes of Wisconsin, ch. 133, § 11 (1849)
Revised Statutes of Wisconsin, ch. 164, § 11 (1858)
Revised Statutes of Wisconsin, ch. 169, § 58 (1858)
Revised Statutes of Wisconsin, ch. 169, § 59 (1858)
Wis. Stat. § 20.927

Wis. Stat. § 48.257	18, 39
Wis. Stat. § 48.375	
Wis. Stat. § 140.35 (1955 version)	50
Wis. Stat. § 146.32(2)	29
Wis. Stat. § 253.095	
Wis. Stat. § 253.095(2)	39
Wis. Stat. § 253.10	
Wis. Stat. § 253.10(8)	
Wis. Stat. § 253.105	
Wis. Stat. § 253.105(6)	
Wis. Stat. § 253.107	passim
Wis. Stat. § 253.107(3)	38
Wis. Stat. § 253.107(3)(a)	
Wis. Stat. § 253.107(7)	
Wis. Stat. § 340.08	17
Wis. Stat. § 340.095 (1947)	16
Wis. Stat. § 351.22 (1947)	16
Wis. Stat. § 351.23 (1947)	16
Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(a)	
Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)	
Wis. Stat. § 939.65	39, 40
Wis. Stat. § 939.75(2)(b)1	19, 24, 31, 33
Wis. Stat. § 940.04	passim
Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1)	passim
Wis. Stat. § 940.04(2)	passim
Wis. Stat. § 940.04(3)	24, 31, 41
Wis. Stat. § 940.04(5)	passim
Wis. Stat. § 940.04(5)(c)	49
Wis. Stat. § 940.04(6)	23
Wis. Stat. § 940.15	passim
Wis. Stat. § 940.15(1)	17

Wis. Stat. § 940.15(2)	17
Wis. Stat. § 940.15(3)	17
Wis. Stat. § 940.16	passim
Wis. Stat. § 990.001(7)	25, 26
Other Authorities	
Initial Draft of 1985 Assembly Bill 510, 1985-86 Legislature, LRB-4124	/1 . 17, 40
2005 Assembly Bill 1144	18, 34
2005 Senate Bill 721	18, 34
2007 Assembly Bill 749	18, 34
2007 Senate Bill 398	18, 34
2015 Assembly Bill 880	18, 34
2015 Assembly Bill 916	18, 34
2015 Senate Bill 653	18, 34
2015 Senate Bill 701	18, 34
2023 Assembly Bill 218	18, 34
Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Texts at 338 (2012)	_
Assembly Substitute Amendment to 1985 Assembly Bill 510, 1985-86 Legislature, LRBs0289/2 (R.138:1-28)	18
Black's Law Dictionary (12th ed. 2024)	23, 45, 47
Singer, 1 Sutherland Statutes and Statutory Construction § 2:7 (7th ed.)	54
Singer, 2 Sutherland Statutory Construction § 34:6 (8th ed.)	51
Wisconsin Legislative Council Judiciary Committee Report on the Crimi (1953)	

ISSUES PRESENTED

Issue No. 1: Does § 940.04, and § 940.04(1), (5), and (6) specifically, prohibit performing consensual abortions, subject to the exception in § 940.04(5)?

Circuit Court's Answer: The circuit court held § 940.04 "says nothing about abortion" and "does not prohibit a consensual medical abortion." (R.147:2, App.049; R.147:20, App.067.) The circuit court relied on this Court's decision in *State v. Black*, 188 Wis. 2d 639, 526 N.W.2d 132 (1994), and concluded "*Black*'s holding that [§ 940.04(2)(a)] 'is not an abortion statute' and 'is a feticide statute only' must apply equally to Subsection (1)." (R.147:14, App.061.) The circuit court ultimately declared "Wis. Stat. § 940.04 does not apply to abortions." (R.183:14, App.093.)

Issue No. 2: If § 940.04, and § 940.04(1), (5), and (6) in particular, otherwise would apply to and prohibit performing consensual abortions, subject to § 940.04(5), has that prohibition been impliedly repealed or superseded by subsequent legislation such that it can no longer be applied to consensual abortions?

<u>Circuit Court's Answer</u>: The circuit court did not address this question.

Issue No. 3: If § 940.04, and § 940.04(1), (5), and (6) in particular, otherwise would apply to and prohibit performing consensual abortions, subject to § 940.04(5), is that prohibition unenforceable as to abortions under the Due Process Clause because it is unconstitutionally vague on its face or compliance is impossible?

<u>Circuit Court's Answer:</u> The circuit court did not address this question.

Issue No. 4: If § 940.04, and § 940.04(1), (5), and (6) in particular, otherwise would apply to and prohibit performing consensual abortions, subject to § 940.04(5), is that prohibition unenforceable because of alleged disuse and reliance on *Roe v. Wade* and its progeny?

<u>Circuit Court's Answer</u>: The circuit court did not address this question.

<u>Issue No. 5:</u> Do the State Plaintiffs have standing to bring their own claims in this action and, if not, can they rely on the standing of an intervenor to remain in the action and benefit from a judgment obtained by an intervenor?

<u>Circuit Court's Answer</u>: The circuit court concluded the State Plaintiffs had standing and presented a justiciable controversy as to Urmanski. After Urmanski moved for reconsideration, the circuit court concluded it did not need to determine whether the State Plaintiffs presented a justiciable claim because Urmanski conceded a justiciable controversy exists between Urmanski and one of the Physician Intervenors.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Court has not set oral argument on this case, but the Court's grant of Urmanski's bypass petition indicates this case merits oral argument. This case does not meet the criteria in § 809.22(2)(a) for submittal on briefs only, and oral argument would be valuable to the Court. Further, the Court's opinion should be published because this case meets the criteria for publication in § 809.23(1)(a) and will decide a case of substantial and continuing public interest.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This case presents the question of whether, after the U.S. Supreme Court overruled *Roe v. Wade*, 410 U.S. 113 (1973), and its progeny, Wis. Stat. § 940.04— and § 940.04(1) specifically—prohibits performing consensual abortions in Wisconsin unless the abortion meets the criteria for a therapeutic abortion under § 940.04(5) (*i.e.*, it is necessary to save the life of the mother). Section 940.04, titled "Abortion," provides:

- (1) Any person, other than the mother, who intentionally destroys the life of an unborn child is guilty of a Class H felony.
- (2) Any person, other than the mother, who does either of the following is guilty of a Class E felony:
- (a) Intentionally destroys the life of an unborn quick child; or

(b) Causes the death of the mother by an act done with intent to destroy the life of an unborn child. It is unnecessary to prove that the fetus was alive when the act so causing the mother's death was committed.

- (5) This section does not apply to a therapeutic abortion which:
- (a) Is performed by a physician; and
- (b) Is necessary, or is advised by 2 other physicians as necessary, to save the life of the mother; and
- (c) Unless an emergency prevents, is performed in a licensed maternity hospital.
- (6) In this section "unborn child" means a human being from the time of conception until it is born alive.

Defendant-Appellant Joel Urmanski, the district attorney for Sheboygan County, has not taken a position during the litigation of this case on what the law on abortion should be. That is an issue for the Legislature and the Governor. This case is not about to what extent abortion should be regulated as a matter of public policy. Urmanski does have an opinion on what the law currently is, however. Urmanski believes § 940.04—and § 940.04(1) specifically—prohibits performing abortions (including consensual abortions) from conception until birth (subject to § 940.04(5)).

The circuit court disagreed. The circuit court, relying on this Court's decision in *State v. Black*, 188 Wis. 2d 639, 526 N.W.2d 132 (1994), concluded § 940.04 was not an abortion statute but instead only applied to feticide. Because the circuit court concluded § 940.04 was not an abortion statute, it did not address legal theories on which Plaintiffs-Respondents Josh Kaul, Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional Services, Wisconsin Medical Examining Board, and Clarence P. Chou, M.D. (the "State Plaintiffs") relied when they brought this lawsuit against Urmanski and two other district attorneys: (1) that subsequent legislative enactments had superseded any application of § 940.04 to abortion, *i.e.*, it had been impliedly repealed and (2) that the doctrine of desuetude applies to prevent applying § 940.04 to consensual abortions. Nor did the circuit court address an additional argument by

the Intervenors-Respondents Christopher J. Ford, Kristin J. Lyerly, and Jennifer J. McIntosh (the "Physician Intervenors"): that enforcing § 940.04 as to abortions would violate the due process clause.

This Court granted bypass. Urmanski now asks this Court to reverse the circuit court and hold that § 940.04, and § 940.04(1) specifically, applies to prohibit abortions (including consensual abortions). *Black* does not foreclose applying § 940.04(1) to a consensual abortion and, even if it did, *Black* should be overruled to the extent it would foreclose such an application.

If this Court agrees the circuit court erred when it concluded § 940.04, including § 940.04(1), is not an abortion statute, this Court should proceed to address the parties' other arguments relating to the applicability of § 940.04 to consensual abortions. First, this Court should hold that § 940.04(1) does not conflict with and has not been impliedly repealed by subsequent legislation, and § 940.04(1) can be enforced as to abortions. Second, this Court should reject the Physician Intervenors' due process arguments and conclude that § 940.04 is not unconstitutionally vague on its face, compliance with § 940.04 is possible, and the Physician Intervenors have not stated a claim that application of § 940.04 to abortions violates due process. Finally, this Court should conclude that Count II of the State Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint fails to state a claim for relief, because the State Plaintiffs lack standing to bring that claim, the doctrine of desuetude does not apply in Wisconsin, and, if it did, this case does not implicate the doctrine. Ultimately, Urmanski asks this Court to reverse the circuit court, order dismissal of the State Plaintiffs' and Physician Intervenors' claims, and conclude § 940.04 can be enforced as to abortions (including consensual abortions).

¹ Consistent with this Court's July 2 order granting bypass, this brief does not address the separate issue of whether the Wisconsin Constitution contains a right to obtain a consensual medical abortion.

II. Legal and Factual Background

A. Wisconsin's Early Abortion Laws

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