FILED 09-11-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP2362

JOSH KAUL, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF SAFETY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, WISCONSIN MEDICAL EXAMINING BOARD, and CLARENCE P. CHOU, MD,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

CHRISTOPHER J. FORD, KRISTIN LYERLY, and JENNIFER JURY MCINTOSH,

Intervenors-Respondents,

v.

JOEL URMANSKI, as DA for Sheboygan County, WI,

Defendant-Appellant,

ISMAEL R. OZANNE, as DA for Dane County, WI, and JOHN T. CHISHOLM, as DA for Milwaukee County, WI,

Defendants-Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DIANE SCHLIPPER, PRESIDING

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

no way to enforce both sets of laws; the current regulations are intended to form a comprehensive scheme—not an addendum to the criminal statutes struck down in *Roe.*" *Id.* 

A federal court reached similar conclusions about Arkansas abortion laws in *Smith v. Bentley*, 493 F. Supp. 916, 923–24 (E.D. Ark. 1980), ruling that implied repeal applied where "the Legislature takes up the whole subject anew and covers the entire ground of the subject matter of a former statute and evidently intends it as a substitute, although there may be in the old law provisions not embraced in the new." *Id.* at 923 (citation omitted).

In some cases, both types of implied repeal apply. In Weeks, 733 F. Supp. at 1038–39, a federal court held that a post-Roe Louisiana law restricting "post-viability abortions" and containing extensive post-Roe regulations impliedly repealed an older, blanket abortion ban both because the newer statute conflicted and because the regulations meant that "abortions are permissible if set guidelines are followed."

As these examples show, a number of courts across the country have considered competing state abortion laws and concluded that earlier broad bans were impliedly repealed by later statutes. This Court thus is on firm ground in recognizing implied repeal here, both under Wisconsin law and in light of similar decisions from other jurisdictions.

### C. Urmanski's arguments flip implied repeal on its head and misunderstand the notice requirements of criminal law.

Urmanski's arguments ask this Court to do the opposite of what implied repeal requires. His view would effectively repeal numerous modern Wisconsin abortion laws, including Wis. Stat. § 940.15, by concluding that Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) renders them meaningless. His arguments also misunderstand fundamental notice requirements for criminal statutes.

1. Urmanski's interpretation would effectively repeal both Wis. Stat. § 940.15 and Wisconsin's comprehensive statutory regime for regulating lawful abortions.

Urmanski offers no way for this Court to interpret Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) as applied to abortion in a way that doesn't wholesale repeal later-enacted statutes, including Wis. Stat. § 940.15 and most of Wisconsin's statutory regime for regulating lawful abortions. That's because there is no way to do so.

Urmanski first argues that "there is no conflict" between Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) and Wis. Stat. § 940.15 because a "physician who conforms his or her conduct to § 940.04(1) and (5) will necessarily also comply with § 940.15." (Urmanski's Br. 26–27, 37.)

Put another way, he argues the statutes can be harmonized because Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) could completely swallow—i.e., render superfluous—Wis. Stat. § 940.15. That's not harmonizing the statutes: "Construing one statute to void others would make no sense and would lead to unreasonable and absurd results." *In Re Commitment of Matthew A.B.*, 231 Wis. 2d 688, 709, 605 N.W.2d 598 (1999) (citation omitted).

Urmanski tries to fight the direct conflict that would exist between Wis. Stat. §§ 940.04 and 940.15 (which this Court already recognized in *Black*) by asserting that Wis. Stat. § 940.15 is not "intended to cover the whole subject of regulation of abortion." (Urmanski's Br. 40.) How not?

Wisconsin Stat. § 940.15 (also titled "Abortion") provides the point in gestation after which abortion is illegal, meaning it is legal before that point. Wis. Stat. § 940.15(2). It prohibits anyone from "perform[ing] an abortion. . . who is not a physician," regardless of the gestational stage of pregnancy. Wis. Stat. § 940.15(5). It exempts a "woman who obtains an

abortion that is in violation of this section." Wis. Stat. § 940.15(7).

For physicians, Wis. Stat. § 940.15 contains an exception after the delineated gestational point for the health of the pregnant woman, which explicitly authorizes a physician to perform an abortion at any stage if "necessary to preserve the life or health of the woman." Wis. Stat. § 940.15(3). It directs that such later abortions "shall be performed in a hospital on an inpatient basis." Wis. Stat. § 940.15(4). It also instructs physicians on the "method of abortion" for post-viability abortions and imposes penalties for physicians who do not comply with those requirements. Wis. Stat. § 940.15(6). Those provisions make clear that a physician acts legally if he or she complies with those requirements.

None of those provisions do statutory work if the only circumstance in which a woman could lawfully have an abortion is if necessary to prevent her from dying.

Urmanski continues to assert that Wis. Stat. § 940.15 "says nothing one way or the other about the legality of abortions before viability or to protect a woman's health—it just does not prohibit them." (Urmanski's Br. 37). This again not only misunderstands criminal law, it also doesn't harmonize the statutes.

Take, for example, the case of a college student who finds out she is eight weeks pregnant as the result of a sexual assault. Can the physician perform the abortion, or will doing so constitute a *criminal felony*? Wisconsin Stat. § 940.15(2) says lawful, but Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1)—if applied to abortion—would say a felony.

Take, as another example, the case of a pregnant woman who, post-viability, suffers a medical emergency that requires either the termination of the pregnancy or severe lifelong organ damage. Can the physician perform the abortion, or will doing so constitute a *criminal felony*? Wisconsin Stat. § 940.15(3) says lawful, but Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1)—if applied to abortion—would say a felony.

Urmanski fares no better trying to argue against the reality that Wisconsin's comprehensive statutory framework for the regulation of lawful abortion is fundamentally incompatible with a statute that would purport to prohibit any abortion beyond those necessary to save the pregnant woman from dying.

Instead of confronting the fact that his reading of Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) would render the vast majority of Wisconsin's many modern abortion laws superfluous, Urmanski instead pivots to language in some (but not all) of chapter 253's provisions saying that nothing in the statute "may be construed as creating or recognizing a right to abortion or as making lawful an abortion that is otherwise unlawful." (Urmanski's Br. 18, 38.) That language does not help him.

First, several of Wisconsin's abortion regulations have no such savings language, including Wis. Stat. §§ 253.095, 48.257, 48.375, and 20.927. Second, even where it does exist, statutory history shows that the language refers not to Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) but to Wis. Stat. § 940.15, which was enacted at the same time or before the regulations containing that language. That is, several of the abortion provisions in chapter 253 were enacted in 1985 together with Wis. Stat. § 940.15. Others were enacted later. None of these provisions were enacted when the near-total ban in Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) could have been enforced as to abortion. These provisions therefore make sense only when construed in light of the narrower limits of Wis. Stat. § 940.15—where abortions may occur in more circumstances and, thus, are amenable to the regulations concerning those broader circumstances.

Even more fundamentally, Urmanski offers no support for the concept that the Legislature can avoid statutory conflict simply by providing that a few regulations didn't create a "right to abortion." The question is not whether any regulations created a right, but rather whether the existence of conflicting statutes and regulatory scheme leave the public in an untenable "quandary" about which laws apply. *Karlin*, 188 F.3d at 468. As the federal court recognized in *Weeks*, there is no support for the idea that a "bald statement" from the Legislature stating that it would prefer no conflict to exist can alleviate the conflict or change the implied repeal analysis. *See* 733 F. Supp. at 1039.

One other point bears mention here: Urmanski's arguments could be read as hinting that the Wisconsin Legislature, at least as to some of the modern laws in chapter 253, wrote something it did not—a version of a so-called abortion "trigger law." Prior to *Dobbs*, over a dozen state legislatures created abortion "trigger laws" providing that in the event that the Supreme Court overturned *Roe*, a restrictive abortion ban should take effect. *See*, *e.g.*, Mo. Ann. Stat. § 188.017. Wisconsin, notably, has no such law. And the construction language in certain (but not all) provisions in chapter 253 offers nothing that would resolve the direct conflict with Wis. Stat. § 940.15 if Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) applied to abortion.

Lastly, Urmanski argues that State Plaintiffs' position leads to surplusage in Wis. Stat. § 940.04(5), but that also fails. (*See* Urmanski's Br. 23–25) That provision provides that Wis. Stat. § 940.04 "does not apply to a therapeutic abortion" which is "performed by a physician and "[i]s necessary . . . to save the life of the mother."

Urmanski's surplusage argument is wrong: Wis. Stat. § 940.04(5) is doing work in the feticide statute—it's just not the work Urmanski says it should do. Wisconsin Stat. § 940.04(5) makes clear that the statutory prohibitions cannot

apply to abortion, even in extreme circumstances. As to Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1), Wis. Stat. § 940.04(5) reinforces that where a pregnant woman will die if she does not receive an abortion, the absence of the otherwise-necessary requirements to ensure voluntary and informed consent does not transform the abortion into feticide under Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1). Similarly, it reinforces that physicians are not criminally liable under Wis. Stat. § 940.04(2)(b) in the event a pregnant woman dies.

There thus is no surplusage issue. To the contrary, it is Urmanski who asks this Court to declare the vast majority of Wisconsin's modern abortion laws surplusage in favor of a near-total ban originating in the mid-1800s.

2. Urmanski's "overlap" theory ignores that Wisconsin criminal law cannot treat the same act as both lawful and a felony.

Throughout his brief, Urmanski also mistakenly asserts that Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1) and Wis. Stat. § 940.15 are "[o]verlapping criminal statutes," which are "common and permitted in the law," such that no conflict exists between the two. (See Urmanski's Br. 31, 36, 38–39.) He misunderstands the caselaw he tries to rely on and the law regarding notice requirements for criminal prohibitions.

As a general rule, the same act may be illegal under multiple criminal statutes. Where conduct is always unlawful, an individual has notice of that unlawfulness; it is simply the type of punishment that may vary. These are the types of statutes found in the cases Urmanski relies on, like *State v. Villamil*, where the same act was criminal under two statutes but punishable as either a misdemeanor or felony. 2017 WI 74, 377 Wis. 2d 1, 898 N.W.2d 482. *Villamil* and *Edwards v. United States*, 814 F.2d 486 (7th Cir. 1987), the

other criminal "overlap" case to which Urmanski primarily points, (Urmanski's Br. 31, 36, 38–39), rely on *Batchelder*.

The U.S. Supreme Court in *Batchelder* rejected a due process challenge to criminal statutes that both made an act illegal but offered different punishments for it: "[W]hen an act *violates more than one criminal statute*, the Government may prosecute[] under either so long as it does not discriminate against any class of defendants." *United States v. Batchelder*, 442 U.S. 114, 123–24 (1979) (emphasis added).

That is not the case when the same act is lawful under one state statute and illegal under another: an individual cannot know whether conduct is lawful when two statutes say directly opposite things. Indeed, *Batchelder* recognized that those circumstances were different—that an act being illegal under multiple statutes is different from circumstances involving "positive repugnancy between the provisions," where implied repeal *would* apply. *Id.* at 122 (citation omitted).<sup>5</sup>

This Court said nothing to the contrary in *State v. Grandberry*, 2018 WI 29, 380 Wis. 2d 541, 910 N.W.2d 214. (*See* Urmanski Br. 31–32, 36–39.) *Grandberry* held that no conflict existed between two statutes because it rejected the argument that the same conduct would violate one statute but not the other. *Id.* ¶¶ 21–23. It held that the two statutes served different purposes and imposed distinct *additional* prohibitions that the other did not; therefore, "compliance with both statutes is not only possible, it is required." *Id.* ¶ 21.

The defendant in *Grandberry* argued that Wisconsin's safe transport and concealed carry statutes conflicted because the same conduct of "placing a loaded handgun in a motor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Urmanski also cites *Radzanower v. Touche Ross & Co.*, (Urmanski's Br. 35–36), but the court there held that it was not a scenario where the schemes "cannot mutually coexist." 426 U.S. 148, 155 (1976).

vehicle" "can comply with the Safe Transport Statute yet violate the Concealed Carry Statute." Id. ¶ 20. This Court rejected the argument that complying with one statute would violate the other: the safe transport statute regulated the transportation of firearms in cars to ensure safe transportation, while the concealed carry statute regulated carrying firearms to ensure public safety. Id. ¶ 21.

Unlike the crosswalk hypothetical discussed in section 2.B.1 above, here's a hypothetical corresponding with *Grandberry*:

- Law 1—It is illegal for pedestrians to cross the street unless the walk sign is illuminated.
- Law 2—It is illegal for pedestrians to cross the street with a dog unless the dog is on a leash.

There's no conflict there. The statutes serve distinct purposes and a pedestrian walking a dog has to comply with both. A pedestrian could not say that if he's walking a dog across the street, he could do so without the walk sign illuminated. That was the argument this Court rejected in *Grandberry*.

Here, in contrast, if both Wis. Stat. §§ 940.04 and 940.15 applied to abortion, both could not apply in force. There would be "no way to enforce both sets of laws." *McCorvey*, 385 F.3d at 849. A Wisconsin physician could not perform an abortion unnecessary to save the pregnant woman's life that is both in compliance with Wis. Stat. § 940.15 and does not violate Wis. Stat. § 940.04(1). Urmanski's overlap theory is simply incorrect.

D. Urmanski's attempts to rely on pre-1985 statutory history and caselaw and legislative history from 1985 onward do not help him.

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